
To:
All Members of the Council
District and County Councillors for the Parish

1 May 2019

Members of the Council

You are hereby summoned to attend the Meeting of the Council to be held in 
The Council Chamber, The Grove, 25 St. John's St, Hythe, SO45 6BZ on 
Thursday, 9th May, 2019 at 7.00 pm

Please note that Declarations of Office can be made from 5.00pm on the 9th May, 
2019 in the Council Chamber.  A councillor orientation session will be held from 
6.00pm to 6.45pm on the same day.

Yours faithfully

Stephanie Bennett

Clerk to the Council

A g e n d a

1. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 
To elect the Chairman of the Council for the ensuing year

2. DECLARATION OF OFFICE 
To receive the Chairman’s Declaration of Office

3. ELECTION OF VICE CHAIRMAN 
To elect a Vice Chairman of the Council for the ensuing year

4. ACCOLADES 
To present accolades to the following retired councillors:

a. Mrs Maureen McLean
b. Mr Mike Short

Public Document Pack

Page 1



5. APOLOGIES 

6. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND DISPENSATIONS 
a. To note any declaration of interest made by Members 

in connection with an Agenda item. Members to 
specify the nature of the interest;

b. To receive any written requests for dispensations for 
disclosable pecuniary interests;

c. To grant any requests for dispensation as appropriate.

7. COMMITTEE AND SUB COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS 5 - 6
To appoint the following Committees:

a. Planning Committee
b. Personnel Committee
c. Neighbourhood Planning Sub Committee

8. MINUTES 7 - 14
To consider and confirm the Minutes of the previous meeting 
of the Council.

9. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

10. PUBLIC FORUM 
Persons who wish to speak to the Council are advised to 
notify the Clerk of any special requirements.

a. Clerk to notify of any written questions submitted by 
electors attending the meeting

b. Elector addresses to the meeting

11. WORKING GROUPS 15 - 16
To appoint councillors to:

a. Open Spaces and Play Equipment Working Group (6)
b. Finance Overview Group (3)
c. Grants Group (3)
d. Awards Group (6)
e. Tourism, Christmas Lights and Events Group (6)

12. OUTSIDE BODIES 17 - 18
a. To appoint representatives to serve on outside bodies;
b. To consider offering liaison appointments for schools 

in the Parish

Page 2



13. GENERAL POWER OF COMPETENCE 19 - 22
To consider and agree the adoption of the General Power of 
Competence

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Committees 2019 - 2020

Planning Committee Personnel Committee

(NINE COUNCILLORS) (SIX COUNCILLORS)

1) Chairman of Council (Ex-Officio) 1) Chairman of Council (Ex-Officio)

2) Vice-Chairman of Council 
(Ex-Officio)

2) Vice-Chairman of Council
(Ex-Officio)

3) 3)

4) 4)

5) 5)

6) 6)

7)

8)

9)

Sub Committee

Neighbourhood Planning

(FIVE COUNCILLORS)

1) Chairman of Planning Committee 
(ex-officio)

2)

3)

4)

5)

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



162

Minutes of the Meeting of Hythe and Dibden Parish Council

Held at The Council Chamber, The Grove, 25 St. John's St, Hythe, SO45 6BZ 
on Wednesday, 24th April, 2019 at 7.00 pm

Mrs M McLean (Chairman)
Mr E Davey (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors Councillors
Mr P Armstrong
Mr J Binns
Mr M Clark
Mrs J Fowler
Mr C Harrison

Mr G Parkes
Mr D Poole
Mr M Short
Mr A Wade
Mr M Wade

Apologies: Councillors Mr T Johnson and Cllr A McEvoy

Absent: Cllr K Crisell and Cllr B Thorne

In Attendance
Cllr B Andrews, New Forest District Council

Officers in Attendance
Stephanie Bennett, Clerk to the Council
Claire Donnelly, Minute Clerk

5 Members of the Public

285/18 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND DISPENSATIONS 

Cllr Graham Parkes declared an interest in minute number 296/18 as he 
is member of the Hythe and Dibden Twinning Association. 

286/18 CRIME AND ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR UPDATE 

There was no update from the police. Inspector Helen Andrews was 
unable to attend due to police commitments. 

287/18 MINUTES 

The Chairman gave an update to Mr Fairhead regarding his question in 
the public forum about the three empty cottages in Jones Lane (minute 
number 267/18). The Chairman has visited the cottages with Cllr Dan 
Poole and three officers from NFDC. She confirmed that the cottages are 
uninhabitable and that NFDC hasn’t made any decisions yet about 
whether they will be renovated or demolished. Cllr Dan Poole will give a 
further update in his report.

Page 7

Agenda Item 8



Minutes of the Council 163 Wednesday, 24 April 2019

Cllr Chris Harrison gave an update regarding Mr Bratcher’s query at the 
public forum concerning the bins opposite Waitrose car park (minute 
number 267/18). Cllr Chris Harrison has contacted the owner of the bins 
and they are willing to change them to gull-proof bins. 

RESOLVED that 

The Minutes of the Parish Council Meeting held on 
27th March 2019 be agreed.

288/18 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Chairman is standing down from the council after 32 years’ service. 
She thanked councillors and officers and said that she has enjoyed 
working with them. The Chairman highlighted that several councillors are 
also standing down from the council, some after many years’ service, and 
she expressed her thanks to them.

The Chairman gave examples of how councillors have worked together 
and with the community, including supporting Hythe Pier Heritage 
Association and Waterside Cancer Support Centre. The Chairman also 
mentioned many projects and initiatives that the Council has been 
involved with including the cinema, the markets, Christmas lights, the 
Mistletoe Fayre, the Memory tree and the adult activity equipment in 
Shore Road and emphasised that there was no I in team working.

The Chairman said a special thank you to Sean Spencer, the Deputy 
Clerk, for always being there for the council. The Chairman expressed her 
thanks to Cllr Graham Parkes for his continued support. She also thanked 
her fellow councillors for their friendship, support and guidance.

The Chairman read out a letter she has received from Peter King from 
Hythe Pier Heritage Association. He sent his thanks for all the help and 
support over the last two and half years of the development of their 
organisation. 

289/18 REPORTS BY COUNTY AND DISTRICT MEMBERS 

Cllr Malcolm Wade paid tribute to the Chairman and thanked her on 
behalf of the councillors. He stated that she is the longest serving 
councillor in the council. She has served on both the district council and 
parish council and has helped so many people, too numerous to mention. 
Cllr Malcolm Wade also said that she took the role as Chairman during a 
challenging time. Cllr Malcolm Wade said that he was sorry that the 
Chairman was leaving but wished her a peaceful and restful retirement.

Cllr Peter Armstrong reported that he has been dealing with local 
enquiries, including Universal Credit queries and flooding issues. He 
continues to give help and advice to a number of local charities regarding 
sources of funds.

Page 8



Minutes of the Council 164 Wednesday, 24 April 2019

Cllr Peter Armstrong attended the Hampshire Regulatory Committee 
meeting regarding Hythe Quarry. He noted that although permission has 
been granted for a grader on site, it will be a smaller machine than initially 
proposed, and HCC will implement a Noise Management Plan on site.

Cllr Peter Armstrong attended the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel where it was agreed that NFDC will continue to monitor the parking 
situation in Hythe. Cllr Peter Armstrong also gave an update on a grant 
application that was received by NFDC. 

Cllr Bill Andrews thanked the council for making him welcome for the last 
four years. He has enjoyed his time in Hythe and Dibden and wished 
everyone well. 

Cllr James Binns  reported that the Arts Council have invited NFDC to 
apply for funding to promote greater involvement in art and culture within 
the local population. Up to £1.2 million could be secured by a successful 
bid.

Cllr James Binns gave an update about the former Capers Restaurant in 
Dibden Purlieu. He reported that the new owners intend to start the 
building work soon and therefore NFDC Enforcement activity will not be 
required. It is anticipated that progress will be made by the summer.

Cllr Dan Poole gave an update from NFDC regarding the three cottages in 
Jones Lane, as previously requested by Cllr Malcolm Wade. Cllr Dan 
Poole read out the following response from Grainne O’Rourke: “19, 21 
and 23 Jones Lane Hythe are a terrace of 3 small 2 bedroom “two up, two 
down” cottages, which are located in Hythe’s conservation area. 
Unfortunately, the properties suffer very significant rising damp, 
condensation and mould and all three properties had to be vacated last 
year. In their present state they are not lettable. The Council have since 
undertaken a detailed inspection of the cottages which identified very 
substantial and costly works would be required to make the properties 
habitable. Following completion of repair works, the ongoing use of the 
properties would have to be carefully managed because of the need to 
allow the properties to “breathe”,  using specialised render and paints, 
good ventilation and so forth. Moreover the properties are small, the 
internal layout includes narrow, winding steep stairs and fire safety is also 
problematic. These would be unsuitable for families with children and 
older residents. It should be noted the cottages are sited on a relatively 
large plot and so officers are presently giving consideration to redevelop 
the site as an alternative to remediation or sale. Planning will need to be 
carefully considered because the cottages are in a conservation area but 
officers believe this may produce a sympathetic replacement 
development, in-keeping with the street-scene, which could yield more 
affordable homes of better quality.”

Cllr Dan Poole emphasised the fact that tenants in the cottages needed to 
be aware that these historic properties require good ventilation. Without it, 

Page 9



Minutes of the Council 165 Wednesday, 24 April 2019

they become very damp and unhealthy places to reside. Unfortunately, in 
most cases, tenants can’t afford to keep their homes warm, so open 
windows are unlikely. Cllr Poole stated that NFDC will endeavour to 
keep the council informed about their decisions regarding these 
properties. 

Cllr Alex Wade reported that he has been dealing with individual 
casework.

290/18 REPORTS FROM MEMBERS SERVING ON OUTSIDE BODIES 

Cllr Eric Davey has represented the council on the Hythe and Dibden 
Woodland and Waterside Group, the Friends of Forest Front, and 
Waterside Heritage. He paid tribute to all the volunteers involved with 
these groups and thanked them for their contribution to the community.

291/18 PUBLIC FORUM 

There were no matters raised.

292/18 QUESTIONS 

Cllr Malcolm Wade asked Cllr Peter Armstrong if he could recall which 
councillors voted for and against the Hythe Quarry application that was 
considered by HCC.  Cllr Armstrong explained that he had not taken a 
note of that.  Cllr Malcolm Wade also ask Cllr Peter Armstrong why an 
NFDC officer did not attend to speak.  Cllr Binns explained that the NFDC 
had recommended refusal and had submitted reasons in advance of the 
meeting.  

Cllr Alex Wade asked the Chairman if he could acknowledge that Cllr 
Graham Parkes and Cllr Mike Short are stepping down from the council. 
Cllr Alex Wade thanked them and said it was a pleasure working with 
them both, especially on the Planning Committee where he has learnt so 
much from them.

293/18 PLANNING COMMITTEE 

RESOLVED that

The Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 
10th April 2019 be agreed.

294/18 ANNUAL PARISH MEETING 

RESOLVED that

The Minutes of the Annual Parish Meeting held on 27th 
March 2019 be received.

Page 10



Minutes of the Council 166 Wednesday, 24 April 2019

295/18 REVITALHYTHE 

Councillors received a report and presentation from the Parish 
Development Officer. 

RESOLVED that

a) The following priorities be agreed for a refreshed 
RevitalHythe Action Plan:

i) Tourism and transport
ii) Sustainability of the retail centres
iii) Facilities for young people
iv) Community wellbeing

b) The Parish Development Officer to consult further with 
the community and develop the four priorities into a draft 
refreshed action plan to be reported back to Council.

296/18 GRANTS 

Consideration was given to the recommendations of the Grants Award 
Group. 

RESOLVED that

The Council awards a grant of £107.47 to Hythe and Dibden 
Twinning Association.

297/18 ANNUAL REPORT ON THE ACCOUNTS 

Consideration was given to the Annual Report of the Council 2018 – 
2019. 

RESOLVED that

a) The Annual Report of the Council 2018–2019 is 
agreed.

b) The Community Infrastructure Levy report be 
agreed.

c) The Investment Report be agreed.

298/18 OUTTURN REPORT 

Councillors received the report from the Clerk. The Council recognised 
the difficult work that it has delivered within this outturn whilst maintaining 
a sound financial status. 

Page 11



Minutes of the Council 167 Wednesday, 24 April 2019

299/18 THE GROVE MAINTENANCE 

Councillors received a report from the Clerk. Consideration was given to 
the action to be taken in respect of the decorative shutters on part of the 
rear of the building.

RESOLVED that

a) Council suspends Standing Order 18d.

b) Council appoints Primmer Olds to undertake the Project 
Management works as detailed in the report for the 
External Repairs and Redecoration of the Grove at a 
cost of £2,150 for Stages 1, 2A and 2B;

c) Council agrees in principle, provided Stage 1, 2A and 2B 
are completely to its satisfaction, to appoint Primmer 
Olds as Project Management for stages 3 and 4 at a cost 
of 8% of project value.

d) The decorative shutters on part of the rear of the building 
to be removed.

300/18 CITIZENS ADVICE BUREAU 

RESOLVED that

The lease to Citizens Advice Bureau to be extended for a 
period of 6 months to 31 October 2019.

301/18 CHURCH OF ST JOHN THE BAPTIST 

Consideration was given to the request from the Parochial Church 
Council’s ‘Notice of Intention to apply for a closure Order’. Concerns were 
raised that the maintenance of closed churchyards can be passed to the 
local authority. 

It was noted that there may be an active vault in the churchyard and the 
council wishes to know if the family have been informed about the request 
for closure.

RESOLVED that

a) The Clerk to seek further information from the Church 
regarding the vault.

b) The matter to be brought back to Council with the 
information requested

c) Contact to be maintained with NFDC regarding the 
proposed closure.  

Page 12



Minutes of the Council 168 Wednesday, 24 April 2019

302/18 FINANCE 2018-2019 

Consideration was given to the Schedule of Payments for the period 1st 
March to 31st March 2019.  

RESOLVED that

The accounts for payment as detailed totalling 
£60,282.64 (gross) be agreed.

The Meeting closed at 8.30 pm

Chairman

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Working Groups 2019 - 2020

Open Spaces and Play Equipment Awards

(SIX COUNCILLORS) (SIX COUNCILLORS)

1) 1)

2) 2)

3) 3)

4) 4)

5) 5)

6) 6)

Grants Finance Overview Group

(THREE COUNCILLORS) (THREE COUNCILLORS)

1) 1)

2) 2)

3) 3)

Tourism, Christmas Lights & Events

(SIX COUNCILLORS)

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

Page 15

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2019 – 2020

AGE CONCERN – NEW FOREST EAST 

(ONE COUNCILLOR)

1)

ASSOCIATION OF NEW FOREST LOCAL COUNCILS

1) Chairman of the Council

2) Vice Chairman of the Council

DIBDEN ALLOTMENT FUND

(THREE COUNCILLORS)

1)  

2)    

3)

On 2 May 2019 2 current appointments, Dan Poole and Chris Harrison, both 4 year appointments 
that end June 2021
 
FAMILIES MATTER

(ONE COUNCILLOR)

1)

HAMPSHIRE ASSOCIATION OF LOCAL COUNCILS

1) Chairman of the Council

2) Vice-Chairman of the Council

HANDY TRUST

(ONE COUNCILLOR)

1)

On 2 May 2019 1 current appointment, Dan Poole, ends 30 November 2020

Page 17

Agenda Item 12



HYTHE AND DIBDEN WOODLAND AND WATERSIDE GROUP

(ONE COUNCILLOR)

1)

LOCAL REPRESENTATIVES FOR TRANSPORT LIAISON

(TWO COUNCILLORS)

1)

2)

NEW FOREST BUSINESS PARTNERSHIP

(ONE COUNCILLOR)

1)

NEW FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
LIAISON COMMITTEE

(TWO COUNCILLORS)

1)

2) 

PORTS CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE

1) Chairman of the Planning Committee

SOUTH EAST QUADRANT MEETING (NPA)

    (ONE COUNCILLOR)

1)

WATERSIDE HERITAGE

(ONE COUNCILLOR)

1)

Page 18



COUNCIL – 9th MAY, 2019

GENERAL POWER OF COMPETENCE

1.0 INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this report is to provide the Council with the information to enable it to 
consider a resolution to renew the General Power of Competence.  The Council invokes the 
General Power of Competence in May 2017.

2.0      BACKGROUND TO THE GENERAL POWER OF COMPETENCE

2.1   Parish Councils are corporate bodies that have accumulated powers through 
legislation since 1894. Their powers were constrained to specific and appropriate 
legislation. This means that before undertaking anything, members must be satisfied 
that the council has the power (under a specified statute) to undertake that activity. 

2.2 Parish councils have many specific powers (e.g. the provision of open spaces and 
recreational facilities) in addition to section 137 of the Local Government Act 1972, 
permitting the expenditure up to certain limits for “purposes not otherwise authorised”. 
Expenditure on grants and sponsorship is covered by section 137 of the Local 
Government Act, 1972.

2.3 Despite the wide range of powers, parish councils are always at risk of acting 
unlawfully if they undertake an unusual activity for their community that might not be 
covered under statutory powers. 

2.4 Following consultation the Government enacted a “general power of competence” in 
the Localism Act 2011 (Part 1, Chapter 1, ss 1-8). It was brought into force by SI 965 
The Parish Councils (General Power of Competence) (Prescribed Conditions) Order 
2012 in April 2012.

3.0.   WHAT THIS MEANS PRACTICALLY

3.1    Under the General Power of Competence this Council would no longer be required to 
identify specific powers to undertake an activity. It is stated in the above Statutory 
Instrument that:

“The Government’s intention in providing eligible parish councils with the 
general power of competency is to better enable them to take on their 
enhanced role and allow them to do things they have previously been 
unable to do under existing powers”.

3.2 Parish councils are provided with “the power to do anything that individuals generally 
may do” as long as they do not break other laws. It is intended to be the power of first, 
not last, resort. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 13



4.0     TYPES OF ACTIVITIES

4.1 Some new activities covered by the legislation include:
 Running a community shop or post office
 Lending or investing money locally
 Establishing a company or co-operative society to trade and engage in 

commercial activity
 Establishing a company to provide local services 
 Providing grants to individuals.

4.2 The power is not restricted to use within the Parish.  

5.0      RESTRICTIONS AND RISKS:

5.1 The only real limitation is that the general power of competence cannot be used to 
circumvent an existing restriction in an existing specific power; for example it cannot 
be used to raise the precept.

5.2 Existing duties remain in place, such as having regard to the likely effect on 
crime/disorder and biodiversity. There are also many existing procedural and financial 
duties that remain in place for the regulation of governance (e.g. no delegation to a 
single councillor). Furthermore, councils must comply with relevant existing legislation 
(e.g. employment law, health and safety, equality legislation and duties relating to data 
protection and freedom of information).

5.3 If another council has a statutory duty to provide a service (e.g. a support service such 
as a Children’s Service), it remains their duty to provide it. Nonetheless, under the 
General Power of Competence the Parish council may assist. 

      
5.4 Whist the Council is encouraged to be innovative, councillors must be aware of the 

risks in particular the potential for being challenged and damage to the Council’s 
reputation if a project goes wrong. 

6.0    EXISTING GRANT FUNDING LEVELS 

6.1 Expenditure under the Local Government Act (s137) is limited and has to be 
accounted for separately. Expenditure is restricted in that it cannot be used to give 
money to individuals and the amounts must be commensurate with the benefit. 
Section 137 is a power of last resort.

6.2 A council that is eligible to use the general power of competence can no longer use 
Section 137 as a power for taking action for the benefit of the area. However, Section 
137 (3) which permits the council to contribute to UK charities, public sector funds and 
public appeals remains in place.

Page 20



6.3 For 2019 – 2020 grant funding under S137 by this Council must not exceed £8.12 per 
electorate)

7.0.     ELIGIBILITY FOR GENERAL POWER OF COMPETENCE

7.1 The three conditions for eligibility are set out in the Statutory Instrument (paragraph 
1.4 above) as follows:

7.1.1 Resolution: the council must resolve at a meeting that it meets the criteria for 
eligibility relating to the electoral mandate and relevant training of the clerk.

7.1.2 Electoral mandate: at the time the resolution is passed, at least two thirds of 
the council must hold office as a result of being declared elected (i.e. not co-
opted).

7.1.3 Qualified clerk: At the time that the resolution is passed, the clerk must hold a 
recognised professional qualification (e.g. Certificate in Local Council 
Administration, Certificate of Higher Education in Local Policy) that includes 
the  CiLCA module relating to the general power of competence.

7.2 Having met the criteria for eligibility full council must resolve to effect the General 
Power of Competence. The council must revisit the decision and make a new 
resolution at every ‘relevant’ annual meeting of the council to confirm that it still 
meets the criteria to enable the power t continue.  A ‘relevant’ annual meeting is the 
annual meeting of the council after the next ordinary election has taken place. 

7.3 In consequence, eligibility remains in place until the ‘relevant’ annual meeting even if 
the conditions of the eligibility criteria have changed. If the council loses its qualified 
clerk or has insufficient elected councillors it must also record its ineligibility at the 
next ‘relevant’ meeting.

7.4 There is no requirement for members to be trained in the general power of 
competence.

7.5 Hythe and Dibden Parish Council satisfies all the conditions as:
7.5.1 It has 13 out of 13 councillors elected
7.5.2 The Clerk of the Council holds the Certificate in Local Council Administration 

(CiLCA) 
7.5.3 The Clerk of the Council has passed the CiLCA module on the general 

power of competence.

8.0.      RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the members invoke the General Power of Competence

For further information contact : 

Stephanie Bennett,  Clerk to the Council, stephanie.bennett@hytheanddibden.gov.uk, 
023801 841 411 Page 21

mailto:stephanie.bennett@hytheanddibden.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 Committee and Sub Committee Appointments
	8 Minutes
	11 Working Groups
	12 Outside Bodies
	13 General Power of Competence

